#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS) **APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CAUSE NO. 2010-SA-01671

WILLIAM COLLINS

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

Jane L. Mapp, MSB No.

Katie L. Trundt, MSB No.

Special Assistant Attorney General
Public Employees' Retirement System
429 Mississippi Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005
Email: JMapp@pers.ms.gov
Telephone: (601) 359-3592
Fax. No. (601) 359-2285

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MR. COLLINS' CLAIM FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND WAS NEITHER ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves an appeal filed by the Appellant, William D. Collins, seeking review of the Order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System (hereinafter "Board") dated December 16, 2008 (Vol. II, R. 14). The Board adopted the Proposed Statement of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny Mr. Collins' request for payment of disability as defined in Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113 (Rev. 2010). This appeal is authorized and governed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-120 (Rev. 2010).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>

William Collins was a maintenance worker with the Jackson County School District. At the time Mr. Collins terminated employment on June 30, 2008, he had 5.50 years of service credit. (Vol. II., R. 31, 90). On June 6, 2008, Mr. Collins' application for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the Record are indicated by "R." followed by the appropriate page number.

non-duty related disability based on coronary artery disease that required him to undergo a stent procedure was received by the Retirement System. (Vol. II, R. 90, 92-93).

Mr. Collins testified that he is unable to work as he has had two blockages in his heart for which he has undergone surgery and that presently there is more blockage but not enough at this time for the placement of a stent. (Vol. II, R. 32). He testified that he is depressed because he is unable to work. (Vol. II, R. 33). Mr. Collins stated that his first stent was placed in April 2006 and following the surgery his physician, Dr. Feghali, released him to return to work without limitations in September of that year. (Vol. II, R. 36) He has been prescribed various statins such as Lipitor and Crestor but, according to Ms. Collins, he is unable to tolerate such medications. (Vol. II, R. 36,37). As recent as July 2008 Dr. Feghali was recommending "aggressive statin therapy" for Mr. Collins. (Vol. II, R.74).

Although Mr. Collins testified that he has been treated by his primary care physician, Dr. Smith, for depression he testified that he did not become depressed until after he terminated his employment. (Vol. II, R. 36, 43-44). Additionally, although Mr. Collins was not claiming asbestosis as a disabling disease, he testified that he had been diagnosed with the condition as a result of working for International Paper as a welder for many years. (Vol. II, R.59-60).

At the time of the hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee. Mr. Collins testified that his claim was denied by the Social Security Administration and that he was appealing the denial. (Vol. II, R.57).

The Committee thoroughly reviewed the medical information provided by Mr. Collins and found that he underwent angioplasty in April 2006 by Dr. Feghali and did

well and was discharged the following day. (Vol. II, R. 17). Although he was given Lipitor, he complained of fatigue and so he stopped taking the medication. Mr. Collins was placed on another medication and was instructed to do cardiac rehabilitation and follow-up with Dr. Feghali in six months. He later underwent a nuclear scan which was found to be normal. (Vol. II, R. 17).

Dr. Feghali noted that Mr. Collins' shortness of breath, chest pain, low stamina and fatigue and depressive mood were because of stress, because his "nuclear imaging did not show any evidence of ischemia and his left ventricular systolic function appeared to be preserved." (Vol. II, R. 110). Mr. Collins reported to his doctor in September 2006 that he felt much better when mowing the grass and Dr. Feghali told him that "he should return to his previous level of activity with no limitation since he feels better when working". (Vol. II, R. 134).

The Committee noted that when Mr. Collins returned to see Dr. Feghali in March 2008 his "severe chest pain had resolved". Dr. Feghali noted that Mr. Collins missed several appointments and took himself off all medication except aspirin. (Vol. II, R.120, 184). In March 2008 he underwent a heart catherization showing one vessel to have blockage, thus, another stent procedure was done. Two weeks later, Mr. Collins returned to Dr. Feghali and reported he was doing fine and denied any shortness of breath or chest pain during exertion. (Vol. II, R. 115). In May 2008 Mr. Collins complained of periodic chest pain mainly when at work, yet Dr. Feghali pointed out that Mr. Collins had started exercising, jogging and walking without any difficulties when he took off of work for a week. (Vol. II, R. 110).

In May 2008 Mr. Collins had a Perfusion Study of his heart which showed "normal myocardial perfusion and function and no evidence of ischemia or fibrosis. No wall abnormalities were noted and the ejection fraction and systolic function of the heart were also normal." (Vol. II, R. 112). When Mr. Collins returned to Dr. Feghali reporting fatigue, Dr. Feghali noted that there was nothing found on the treadmill or scan. (Vol. II, R. 111-112). Following the stent, Mr. Collins reported that his chest pain was resolved, but, he had shortness of breath and fatigue. Dr. Zayed, who completed a PERS Form 7, listed no limitations for Mr. Collins and an EKG done in July showed "normal sinus rhythm". His ejection fraction was also normal The degree of blockage that he was showing was considered non-surgical. (Vol. II, R. 112-113).

The Committee commented on the Independent Medical Evaluation that was done by Dr. Peeples on July 30, 2008.(Vol. II., R. 101-103). After reviewing all of the medical records Dr. Peeples noted that Mr. Collins' cardiologists believed that his symptoms or complaints are psychiatric in origin. (Vol. II, R. 101-103). Dr. Peeples, according to the Committee, found that Mr. Collins has Coronary Artery Disease (CAD) but that it was not clear that his complaints are related to the CAD. Based on the record, Dr. Peeples could not find that Mr. Collins was physically or psychologically disabled to such point that he has a permanent or likely total occupational disability. (V. II, R. 103).

Accordingly, the Appeals Committee recommended to the Board of Trustees that Mr. Collins' request for non-duty related disability benefits be denied. (Vol. II, R. 24). The Board of Trustees adopted the Appeals Committee's findings, conclusions, and recommendations by Order denying Mr. Collins disability benefits issued December 16, 2008. (Vol. II, R. 14).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the PERS Board of Trustees is supported by substantial evidence. In order to qualify for a disability benefit under PERS law, Mr. Collins would have to prove that the condition upon which he bases his claim is permanently disabling and that the disability was the direct cause of his withdrawal from state service. The record clearly supports the Order of the PERS Board of Trustees which took into consideration all of the medical evidence offered by Mr. Collins. The decision of the PERS Board of Trustees is supported by substantial evidence and is neither arbitrary nor capricious.

It is clear the only decision the Board could make was that Mr. Collins' claim does not meet the definition of a disability as defined under PERS law. The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees is premised on substantial evidence and is neither arbitrary nor capricious.

PERS does not seek to deny that Mr. Collins does suffer from Coronary Artery Disease, but under Mississippi Law – Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113 – in order for Mr. Collins to receive disability payments, he has to prove that the condition which causes his complaints, and upon which he bases his claim, is *disabling* and that the disability was the direct cause of his withdrawal from state service. The record, however, shows that Mr. Collins' complaints should not prevent him from his work, let alone render him disabled or directly cause him to withdraw from service. The PERS Board of Trustees took into consideration all of the medical evidence offered by Mr. Collins, and found that this evidence did not establish that Mr. Collins is disabled and therefore he is not entitled

to a disability benefit from the State of Mississippi. PERS asks that this Honorable Court reverse the decision of the Hinds County Circuit Court and affirm the decision of the Board of Trustees.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

PERS was established in 1953 to provide retirement and other benefits to covered employees of the state, its political subdivisions and instrumentalities. Chapter 299, Mississippi Laws of 1952.

In addition to service retirement benefits, disability benefits are provided for members who meet the statutory requirements for such benefits. There are two categories of disability benefits available to PERS members: (1) a regular disability benefit payable to members who have at least four (4) years of creditable service<sup>2</sup> and who become disabled for any reason, and (2) a hurt-on-the-job disability benefit, payable to members regardless of the number of years of creditable service, where the member becomes disabled due to an injury occurring in the line of duty. Miss. Code Ann. §§25-11-113 and 25-11-114 (Rev. 2010).

Applications for disability benefits are reviewed by the PERS Medical Board, which arranges and passes upon all medical examinations for disability purposes. The PERS Medical Board is composed of physicians appointed by the PERS Board of Trustees. Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-119(7) (Rev. 2010). Any person aggrieved by a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> If a claimant was a member in the System prior to July 1, 2007, he was vested with four (4) years of service credit. Anyone becoming a member after July 1, 2007, must have eight (8) years of service credit to be vested.

determination of the PERS Medical Board may request a hearing before the designated hearing officer of the PERS Board of Trustees, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-120 (Rev. 2010).

Disability, as defined under PERS law, Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113, states in pertinent part:

... the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation.

#### §25-11-113 further provides that:

... in no event shall the disability retirement allowance commence before the termination of state service, provided that the medical board, after an evaluation of medical evidence that may or may not include an actual physical examination by the medical board, certifies that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired . . .

The question before the PERS Medical Board, the Disability Appeals Committee and the PERS Board of Trustees was whether Mr. Collins' claim meets the requirements for the receipt of a disability benefit. The PERS Board of Trustees concluded that the recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny disability benefits should be adopted as the decision of the Board. The Order of the Board was incorrectly reversed by the Circuit Court on the basis that the denial of disability benefits is not supported by substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice limits review by this Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was beyond the authority of the Board to make; or (4) violated a statutory or constitutional right of Mr. Collins. Laughlin v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 11 So.3d 154, 158 (Miss. App. 2009); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dean, 983 So.2d 335, 339 (Miss. App. 2008); Case v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 973 So.2d 301, 310 (Miss. App. 2008); Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So. 2d 945, 948 (Miss. App. 2006); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d 664, 673 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d 348, 351 (Miss. App. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2001); Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 774 So. 2d 434, 437 (Miss. 2000); Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d 258, 259 (Miss. 1998).

The Mississippi Supreme Court stated in *Public Employees' Retirement System* v. *Dishmon*, 797 So.2d at 891, that there is a rebuttable presumption in favor of a PERS ruling. A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. *Brakefield v. Public Employees'* Retirement System, 940 So. 2d at 948; *Public Employees' Retirement System v.* 

Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1285; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d at 350; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; United Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990); Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So. 2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989) Also see: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919 So. 2d 1150, 1156 (Miss. App. 2005). In Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency. [Emphasis added]

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So. 2d 605, 609 (Miss. App. 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the agency, not the reviewing court, sits as finder of fact." In this case there are medical tests and evaluations that Mr. Collins has undergone. Several different physicians have reviewed the reports in the file with the medical training to read and assess those documents. The Court in *Cobb* went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the fact-finding process substantial deference when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to reevaluate the evidence and makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. [Emphasis added] 839 So. 2d 609.

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1287, the Mississippi Supreme Court reiterated that "it is for PERS, as fact finder, to determine which evidence is more believable or carries the most weight." The findings of fact by the PERS Board of Trustees must not be disturbed on appeal "where sustained by substantial evidence." City of Meridian v. Davidson, 211 Miss. 683, 53 So. 2d 48, 57 (1951); Harris v. Canton Separate Public School Board of Education, 655 So. 2d. 898 (Miss. 1995). As stated by the Supreme Court in *Davidson*, "[t]he underlying and salient reasons for this safe and sane rule need not be repeated here." 53 So. 2d at 57. Moreover, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of PERS' decision, and the burden of proving to the contrary is on Mr. Collins. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d at 259; Mississippi State Board of Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1257 (Miss. 1996); Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993) Also see: Mississippi Hospital Association v. Heckler, 701 F.2d 511, 516 (5th Cir. 1983). In Gray, the Supreme Court held:

> A reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case. Chancery and Circuit Courts are held to the same standard as this Court when reviewing agency decisions. When we

find the lower court has exceeded its authority in overturning an agency decision we will reverse and reinstate the decision. 674 So. 2d at 1253. [Emphasis added]

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So. 2d at 893, the Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of proving to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled". In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson*, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003), the Court citing *Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 808 So. 2d 902, 905 (Miss. 2002) noted: "It is not this courts job to determine whether the claimant has presented enough evidence to prove she is disabled, but whether PERS has presented enough evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled." Also See: *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt*, 919 So. 2d 1150, 1156. (Miss. App. 2005)

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees was supported by substantial evidence, was neither arbitrary nor capricious and, thus, the Order of the Circuit Court entered February 4, 2010, should be reversed and the Order of the PERS' Board of Trustees entered December 16, 2008, should be affirmed.

I. THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) DENYING MR. COLLINS' CLAIM FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND WAS NEITHER ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS.

"Unless PERS' order was not supported by substantial evidence, or was arbitrary or capricious, the reviewing court should not disturb its conclusions." *Public Employees*'

Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005). Upon close reading of the record presently before this Honorable Court, it is evident that the decision of the PERS Board of Trustees is based upon substantial evidence. Substantial evidence has been defined as "evidence which affords an adequate basis of fact from which the fact at issue can be reasonably inferred." Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System 940 So. 2d at 948; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1285; Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 750 So. 2d 1225, 1233 (Miss. 1999). The Mississippi Supreme Court has further defined substantial evidence as evidence that is "more than a scintilla; it must do more than create a suspicion, especially where the proof must show bad faith." Mississippi State Board of Examiners for Social Workers and Marriage and Family Therapists v. Anderson, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1086 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (quoting Mississippi Real Estate Commission v. Ryan, 248 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1971) (citing 2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law § 688 (1962)). Also see, Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1285. Upon review of the record, including the findings of the Disability Appeals Committee and its thorough analysis of the medical documentation and testimony offered at the hearing, this Court will see that there is "more than a scintilla" of evidence to support PERS' decision to deny disability benefits.

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