## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-SA-01671

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

WILLIAM COLLINS

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY CAUSE NO. 251-09-71 CIV

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE:
Matthew S. Lott, MSB No.
Hanson Horn, MSB No.
DOGAN & WILKINSON, PLLC
734 Delmas Avenue
Post Office Box 1618
Pascagoula, MS 39568-1618
Telephone: (228) 762-2272
Facsimile: (228) 762-4145

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-SA-01671

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLANT** 

VERSUS

WILLIAM COLLINS

III.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS		
IV.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT5		
V.	ARG	UMENT 6	
	A.	Standard of Review	
	B.	Argument and Authorities	
		The Public Employees' Retirement System judgment denying benefits to Mr. William Collins was unsupported by the substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious	
VI. C	ONCLU	JSION	
CERT	TIFICAT	TE OF SERVICE	
EXHI	BITS		
		eghali Memo dated September 11, 2008 (Vol. II, R. 89)	
ATT <i>A</i>	CHED	AUTHORITIES	

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

PAGE
CASES:
Byrd v. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys., 774 So.2d 434 (Miss. 2000)
Eash v. Imperial Palace of Mississippi, LLC, 4 So. 3d 1042 (Miss. 2009)
Flowers v. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys., 952 So.2d 972 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Johnson v. Ferguson, 435 So.2d 1191 (Miss. 1983)
Johnston v. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys., 827 So.2d 1 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
Metal Trims Indus., Inc. v. Stovall, 562 So.2d 1293 (Miss. 1990)
Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp., 743 So.2d 973 (Miss.1999)
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Allen, 834 So.2d 50 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Cobb, 839 So.2d 605 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman, 846 So.2d 1014 (Miss. 2003)
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d 888 (Miss. 2001)
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Howard, 905 So.2d 1279 (Miss. 2005)
Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421 (Miss. 2000) 6,10,1
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Smith, 880 So.2d 348 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Thomas, 809 So. 2d 690 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
RULES
Uniform Circuit Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, Rule 5.03
<u>STATUTES</u>
Mississippi Code Annotated Section 25-11-113(1)(a) (Rev. 2007)

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE, WILLIAM COLLINS

COMES NOW, the Appellee, William Collins, in the above-styled and numbered cause, by and through his attorneys of record, Dogan & Wilkinson, PLLC, and files this brief, to show as follows:

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MR. COLLINS' CLAIM FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

Mr. Collins filed a claim for disability benefits on June 6, 2008 with the Public Employees' Retirement System due to disabling coronary artery disease. His claim was denied by the Public Employees' Retirement System Medical Board on September 5, 2008. Mr. Collins appealed this decision to the Disability Appeals Committee of the Public Employees' Retirement System (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Committee"). (Vol. II, R. 11). A hearing was held on November 14, 2008 and a decision was rendered denying benefits on December 16, 2008. (Vol. II, R. 14). The Circuit Court for the First Judicial District of Hinds County found that the Committee's decision was not supported by substantial evidence, and was arbitrary and capricious. (Vol. II, R. 14). On February 3, 2010, the Circuit Court entered an order reversing the decision Committee. (Vol. II, R. 14). Aggrieved by the decision, PERS filed this appeal.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Claimant, William Collins, is a 57-year-old man who resides in Hurley, Mississippi in Jackson County. He completed high school and worked for twenty-five years at International Paper in Moss Point, Mississippi before the plant shut down. He began working for the Jackson County School District at the East Central school as a maintenance worker and continued to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the Record are indicated by "R." followed by the appropriate page number.

work as a maintenance worker throughout his time at the school before ceasing his employment on June 30, 2008. (Vol. II, R. 93). He has 5.5 years of service credit. (Vol. II, R. 15). He ceased this employment at the recommendation of his cardiologist, as he was unable to perform his duties as a maintenance worker due to his severe coronary artery disease. (Vol. II, R. 89). For this disease, he has undergone stenting procedures as well as a variety of other treatments.

Mr. Collins' duties as a maintenance worker vary widely, but include such things as building cabinets, building sidewalks, building add-ons to the school, roof repairs, hanging shelves for teachers and replacing lightbulbs, among other duties. Mr. Collins last worked on June 30, 2008, because he was fatigued and experiencing severe chest pain and could no longer do his job. (Vol. II, R. 16). He was further told by his cardiologist that he had three more arteries with disease but was not ready for stenting.(Vol. II, R. 16). Mr. Collins reported upon returning to work, he would feel pressure in his chest upon exertion, lack of energy and his blood pressure was elevated. (Vol. II, R. 16).

Mr. Collins was admitted to the hospital on April 20, 2006 for complaints of chest pain with exertion, loss of stamina and feeling tired (Vol. II, R. 197). He underwent an angioplasty on April 21, 2006 by Dr. George A. Feghali for severe angina with severe left circumflex and first obtuse marginal stenosis. (Vol. II, R. 206). A nuclear scan was performed on Mr. Collins' heart on June 1, 2006 which was normal. (Vol. II, R. 137). On September 11, 2006, Mr. Collins was seen for follow-up by Dr. Zayed. (Vol. II, R. 136). Mr. Collins reported he was feeling worse than before the stent. (Vol. II, R. 136). The doctor noted the stent had excellent results, although Mr. Collins had borderline blockage of the right coronary artery at 60-65%. (Vol. II, R. 136).

On March 5, 2008, Mr. Collins returned to see Dr. Feghali, and he wrote that he had seen Mr. Collins for CAD (coronary artery disease) and two stents and that his severe chest pain had

resolved after the procedure. (Vol. II, R. 132). Dr. Feghali later recommended a heart catheterization and wrote a prescription for Coreg CR and Plavix. (Vol. II, R. 133). Mr. Collins returned to the hospital on March 7, 2008 for his catheterization, and he was found to have one vessel with significant disease. (Vol. II, R. 120). Tests showed in-stent restenosis, hyperlipidemia and obesity (although Mr. Collins is far from obese). (Vol. II, R. 120-121). Another stent was inserted, and Mr. Collins was placed on Aspirin and statins for life, Plavix for a year or two, cardiac rehabilitation, including diet and exercise education. (Vol. II, R. 120-121). When Mr. Collins returned to Dr. Feghali on March 19, 2008, he reported he was doing fine and denied exertional chest pain and shortness of breath. (Vol. II, R. 115). Mr. Collins returned again to Dr. Feghali on May 21, 2008 reporting he had done well until he tried to return to work, and then he began developing substernal chest pain radiating from his left upper extremity. (Vol. II, R. 113). He continued to try to work, until he felt he could no longer work after his surgery in May of 2008. (Vol. II, R. 32).

Mr. Collins went to see Dr. Feghali again on July 2, 2008, returning with complaints of chest pain on exertion, and it was found that he had developed in-stent restenosis of the distal edge of the obtuse marginal branch stent. (Vol. II, R. 75). Another stent was used to reopen the vessel. (Vol. II, R. 75). Mr. Collins reported that his chest pain had resolved since the procedure, but that he was experiencing fatigue, lack of energy and shortness of breath. (Vol. II, R. 75). Dr. Feghali wrote a memo dated September 11, 2008 which stated he had treated Mr. Collins since 2006 for coronary artery disease, and that he pulled Mr. Collins from work because of unstable angina, and re-stenting due to restenosis. (Vol. II, R. 89; See Memo attached as Exhibit A). Dr. Feghali wrote that Mr. Collins continued to develop shortness of breath and chest pain at work due to physical activity. (Vol. II, R. 89; See Exhibit A).

Dr. Feghali stated that he stands by his decision to pull Mr. Collins from work per correspondence on February 12, 2009. He indicates that Mr. Collins is indeed disabled in that he is unable physiologically to perform the duties of a maintenance worker. (See letter from Dr. Feghali, attached as Exhibit B).

Mr. Collins underwent an independent medical evaluation on July 30, 2008 by Dr. Peeples. (Vol. II, R. 101). Dr. Peeples is a general practitioner, not a cardiologist, and saw Mr. Collins on one brief occasion for a total of fifteen (15) minutes. (Vol. II, R. 101). Dr. Peeples incorrectly reviewed Mr. Collins as a firefighter. (Vol. II, R. 101). Dr. Peeples reviewed the medical record and performed a physical exam. (Vol. II, R. 101). He clearly noted CAD, but discounted the complaints by Mr. Collins as psychiatric in origin. (Vol. II, R. 101-103)

However, he neither stated Mr. Collins' complaints were unwarranted nor that he was malingering. (Vol. II, R. 101-103). Dr. Peeples concluded Mr. Collins, in his opinion, was not physically or psychologically disabled to a point that would result in permanent and likely total occupational disability. (Vol. II, R. 101-103). However, he did note that the case will probably need to be followed to evaluate Mr. Collins' depression. (Vol. II, R. 103).

At the hearing held on November 14, 2008, Mr. Collins testified he had never been to the doctor in his life, but began declining in health in 2006. After the initial stents were inserted, he stated:

... I got them [blockages] fixed and went right back to work. I thought I was well. I didn't even go back to the doctor. Well, a year later it clogged back up, and I had to go back to the doctor then to get that fixed. Then I just kept feeling worse and worse, and I just couldn't do it. It got to where I didn't have no energy. After about two or three hours of work, I was give out. So I had to go back, and I have three more arteries clogging up, but they ain't far enough for them to put in stents, and I just got to where I couldn't go ... It started hurting like somebody was sitting on my chest. Just didn't feel good ... (Vol. II, R. 32-33).

Mrs. Collins summarized her husband's illness succinctly:

Mainly the problem is not so much with the heart as it is with the heart disease. Like he said when he went back in that last catheterization that y'all have records on, June or July, that there was already a build up within the stents, and the other arteries, but it would have to be 75 percent before they will do anything, and he said it is progressive, and he said his is progressing faster than he would like for it too, but a lot of it is because he cannot tolerate medicine. And he is a stressed person anyway. I mean, he's always been stressed. Things make him uptight and he said that is a lot of his problem because he is stressed and it just locks him up and he starts having the high blood pressure, the flushing of the face, and just to reiterate what he said, he has worked so hard all the time. He's a workaholic. He would come home from work and get outside and work. We have 30 acres and there's always something to do, and the last year I have seen him go down and down. He would go to work, and by noon he would come to my room and his face would be flushed or he would be pale and he would be at the nurses' station. . . . He doesn't want to go anywhere any more. He has no desire or energy to go anywhere or to do anything. I went on vacation by myself last year. (Vol. II, R. 39-41).

The Committee denied Mr. Collins' claim. However, on appeal, the Circuit Court of the Fist Judicial District of Hinds County reversed the findings of the Committee based on the Committee's arbitrary and capricious judgment which is unsupported by the substantial evidence in favor of the Claimant. (Vol. II, R. 14).

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Public Employees' Retirement System's (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "PERS") judgment denying benefits to Mr. William Collins was unsupported by the substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious. PERS ignored the medical diagnosis and recommendations of Mr. Collins' cardiologist of several and made their decision based on the findings of a general practitioner who evaluated Mr. Collins for a total of fifteen minutes. The Committee also failed to conduct any professional evaluation regarding Mr. Collins' emotional, mental, and psychological issues, although it was a topic of importance as evidenced by their repeated questioning of Mr. Collins on the issue. The Hinds Circuit Court applied the correct standard and properly reversed the Committee's ruling to find in favor of Mr. Collins.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

The Supreme Court applies the same standard of review that the lower courts are obligated to follow when reviewing the decisions of a circuit or chancery court regarding an action by an agency. Eash v. Imperial Palace of Mississippi, LLC, 4 So. 3d 1042 (Miss. 2009); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 429 (Miss. 2000). Review of administrative agency decisions by this court and appellate courts is limited. (See URCCC 5.03). Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice provides that an agency's decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless the judgment was: (1) unsupported by substantial evidence, (2) arbitrary and capricious, (3) beyond the power of the agency, or (4) violates the complainant's statutory or constitutional rights. See Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Smith, 880 So.2d 348, 350-51 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Dearman, 846 So.2d 1014, 1018 (Miss. 2003)). This court may not substitute its judgment for that of the administrative agency, and may not reweigh the evidence. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Howard, 905 So.2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005). If an agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence, it will be deemed arbitrary and capricious. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Allen, 834 So.2d 50, 53 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). "Substantial evidence" has been defined as "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000). It is "more than a 'mere scintilla' or suspicion." Id.

An agency decision is "arbitrary" if "it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Public Employees' Retirement System*, 774 So.2d at 429; *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So.2d 973, 977 (Miss.1999). A "capricious" decision is "done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id.* If there is

substantial evidence supporting the agency's decision, the reviewing court must give this decision substantial deference. *Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Cobb*, 839 So.2d 605, 609 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

#### **B.Argument and Authorities**

The Public Employees' Retirement System judgment denying benefits to Mr. William Collins was unsupported by the substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious

Mr. Collins seeks disability benefits under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 25-11-113(1)(a) (Rev.2007). For disability retirement determination under this section there are two requirements. First, the medical board, after an evaluation of medical evidence, must certify that "the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that the incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired." Miss.Code Ann. § 25-11-113(1)(a) (Rev.2007). Then, the medical board shall apply the statutory definition of "disability" which is "[t]he inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation." *Id*.

Mr. Collins was not offered any other covered employment. Therefore, PERS had to determine only whether he was unable to perform the usual duties of employment due to mental or physical incapacity for the further performance of duty and whether such incapacity was likely to be permanent such that he should be retired. Miss. Code Ann. § 25-11-113(1)(a) (Rev. 2007).

An employee must prove non-work related permanent retirement disability to the PERS Medical Board according to the legal requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 25-11-113(1)(a). The agency, not the reviewing court, acts as the finder of fact. *Cobb*, 839 So.2d at 609 (citing *Metal Trims Indus., Inc. v. Stovall*, 562 So.2d 1293, 1296 (Miss. 1990)). Fact-finding includes evaluating the testimony of witnesses for credibility. *Id.* PERS has the sole

responsibility of assessing the evaluations by medical personnel and determining which evaluations to rely upon. *Johnston v. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys.*, 827 So.2d 1, 3 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Byrd v. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys.*, 774 So.2d 434, 438 (Miss. 2000)).

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